IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–2075

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

MARK BERNARD RETTERATH, Defendant-Appellee.

> APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR MITCHELL COUNTY THE HONORABLE JAMES M. DREW, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

MARK L. WALK Mitchell County Attorney

SCOTT BROWN Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

On Retterath's direct appeal from his convictions, the Iowa Court of Appeals found a reasonable probability that privileged mental health records of two witnesses contained exculpatory or impeaching information, and it remanded for *in camera* review of those records. Records for one witness (Sellers) are in the custody of federal agencies. Those agencies refused to produce the privileged records without the patient's consent, and Sellers declined to waive his privilege. Because it could not review his privileged mental health records, the district court ordered a retrial.

I. Did the district court err by ordering a retrial, without evaluating the strength of the State's evidence or the validity of the conviction without access to the records that all parties agree are unobtainable?

Authorities

Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988)

California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479 (1984)

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)

Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263 (1999)

United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683 (1974)

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985)

United States v. Valenzuela-Bernal, 458 U.S. 858 (1982)

Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545 (1977)

Channon v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 629 N.W.2d 72 (Iowa 1999)

Commonwealth v. Barroso, 122 S.W.3d 554 (Ky. 2003)

Cornell v. State, 430 N.W.2d 384 (Iowa 1988)

Harrington v. State, 659 N.W.2d 509 (Iowa 2003)

In re Crisis Connection, 949 N.E.2d 789 (Ind. 2011)

Jack v. Booth, 858 N.W.2d 711 (Iowa 2015)

Jones v. Univ. of Iowa, 836 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2013)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)

Lawson v. Kurtzhals, 792 N.W.2d 251 (Iowa 2010)

McMaster v. Iowa Bd. of Psychology Examiners,

509 N.W.2d 754(Iowa 1993)

Moon v. State, 911 N.W.2d 137 (Iowa 2018)

Pavone v. Kirk, 901 N.W.2d 477 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Anderson, 410 N.W.2d (Iowa 1987)

State v. Barrett, No. 17–1814, 2018 WL 6132275 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018)

State v. Bedwell, 417 N.W.2d 66 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Belken, 633 N.W.2d 786 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Bray, 422 P.3d 250 (Or. 2018)

State v. Dulaney, 493 N.W.2d 787 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Hager, 630 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Heard, 934 N.W.2d 433 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Johnson, 272 N.W.2d 480 (Iowa 1978)

State v. Lynch, 885 N.W.2d 89 (Wis. 2016)

State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Redmond, 803 N.W.2d 112 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Retterath, No. 16–1710, 2017 WL 6516729 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2017)

State v. Romeo, 542 N.W.2d 543 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Smith, 876 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470 (Iowa 2013)

Struve v. Struve, 930 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 2019)

Team Cent., Inc. v. Teamco, Inc., 271 N.W.2d 914 (Iowa 1978)

Whitsel v. State, 525 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 1994)

Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(1)

Iowa Code $\S 622.10(4)(a)(2)(a)-(b)$

Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(c)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal presents a narrow question because of its unique procedural posture, but it may have profound implications. Issues surrounding access to privileged mental health records of witnesses arise with increasing frequency, as the Iowa Court of Appeals broadens the definition of "exculpatory information" under section 622.10(4). See, e.g., State v. Barrett, No. 17–1814, 2018 WL 6132275, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018). Moreover, this is an issue of first impression. The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this appeal if it finds that this is a *substantial* issue, or one of public importance. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d), & (f). Otherwise, this appeal may be routed to the Iowa Court of Appeals. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is the State's appeal from an order granting a new trial, following remand from direct appeal that directed the district court to conduct *in camera* review of privileged mental health records for two witnesses, determine whether they contained exculpatory evidence, and then determine if unavailability of any such evidence during trial required it to order a new trial on the charge involving those witnesses.

Records for one witness were discovered to be in the custody of the federal government, and neither the State nor the court can compel production of those records over the patient's refusal to consent.

Faced with this roadblock, the court ordered a new trial. The State appeals, because unavailability of those privileged records does not establish any problem with the conviction. This Court should clarify that a materiality inquiry must be part of the retrospective analysis.

Course of Proceedings

Mark Bernard Retterath was charged with attempted murder, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.11 (2015); third-degree sexual abuse, in violation of section 709.4(1)(a); and solicitation to commit murder, in violation of section 705.1(1). The evidence showed that Retterath sexually abused C.L.—and then, after C.L. reported the abuse, Retterath formed a plan to poison C.L. and asked both J.R. and Aaron Sellers to help. Retterath was found guilty as charged.

On appeal, the Iowa Court of Appeals found insufficient evidence to prove attempted murder, because Retterath was arrested before his plan could advance beyond the point where he would have committed an assault. *See State v. Retterath*, No. 16–1710, 2017 WL 6516729, at *7–9 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2017). The Court of Appeals

also considered Retterath's challenges to pre-trial rulings involving privileged mental health records for C.L., J.R., and Sellers. The court had conducted *in camera* review of C.L.'s mental health records, and disclosed a single page of exculpatory material. The Court of Appeals reviewed C.L.'s records and agreed that no additional material should be disclosed. *See id.* at *12. But the Court of Appeals found Retterath had "established that Sellers and J.R. each had a history of psychiatric conditions that could impact his reliability as a witness," so it ordered the district court to order production of their mental health records for *in camera* review on remand. *See id.* at *11.

We remand the case to allow the district court to conduct that review under section 622.10(4)(a)(2) to determine whether their records contain exculpatory information. If the district court finds no exculpatory evidence, Retterath's conviction for solicitation to commit murder is affirmed. If the district court finds exculpatory evidence in those records, then the district court should perform the balancing test outlined in paragraphs (2)(c) and (d) to assess whether Retterath is entitled to a new trial on the conviction for solicitation to commit murder.

Id. Both parties sought further review on various grounds, but the Iowa Supreme Court denied further review and procedendo issued. The district court promptly ordered production of those records, for *in camera* review. *See* Order for Production (4/20/18); App. 8.

The State "was able to obtain the requested records of J.R." and it had "provided said records to the [c]ourt to review." *See* Statement (6/13/19) at 1; App. 10. But Sellers's records were unobtainable:

The State has been unable to obtain the requested records of [Sellers]. Said record are in the possession and control of the Federal Government (i.e. Social Security Administration and Probation and Parole). The Federal Government has refused to comply with the state subpoena issued to them citing federal rules regarding privacy and confidentiality.

On June 12, 2019, as suggested by the Court, the undersigned contacted [Sellers] to see if [Sellers] would be willing to provide consent to release his records. [Sellers] chose to decline consent.

Id.; App. 10. The State provided more details in another filing:

... On December 13, 2018, the State caused subpoenas to be issued to the Social Security Administration and the United State[s] Probation and Parole Office for the substance abuse and mental health records of Sellers. On December 21, 2018, the State received a letter from the Office of General Counsel for the Social Security Administration indicating that none of the conditions were met that would require compliance with a State issued subpoena and the disclosure of Sellers's records. The Social Security Administration declined to provide Seller's records. On December 26, 2018, the District Court and defense counsel were provided a copy of the letter. . . . [T]he U.S. Probation and Parole Office stated they would not comply with the State subpoena and provide the records. The U.S. Probation and Parole Office also indicated that it would not provide the names of the vendors providing services to Sellers. . . . Sellers has declined to waive his statutory right to keep his substance abuse and mental health records confidential.

See Resistance to Motion to Dismiss (8/27/19) at 2-3; App. 21-22.

Retterath moved to dismiss this charge, based on "the State's lack of compliance" with the order to obtain them. See Motion to Dismiss (8/14/19); App. 15. But Retterath knew that the Social Security Administration needed "a release signed by the claimant" before releasing those records. See Notice (6/14/19) at 3; App. 14. The State, Retterath, and the district court agreed that none of them had any ability to compel production of those records. See Transcript (9/3/19) at 3:17–9:8. The district court speculated that its inability to review Sellers's records might "put [it] in a position of precluding the State from using him as a witness and then granting a new trial." See Transcript (9/3/19) at 9:9-23. The State argued it would be improper to "presume some sort of prejudice or that these would have been exculpatory or usable or would have somehow changed the outcome of the case." See Transcript (9/3/19) at 9:24-11:20. Retterath argued that the remedy was dismissal, because Sellers "didn't assert any kind of privilege or anything like that," and because "this evidence that ordinarily would have been available and could be exculpatory is not going to be available." See Transcript (9/3/19) at 11:21–14:16.

The court denied the motion to dismiss. See Order (9/24/19); App. 26. Retterath filed a motion to reconsider that ruling. See Motion (10/17/19); App. 29. The State resisted. *See* Resistance (11/7/19); App. 35. The court denied that motion to reconsider. *See* Order (11/21/19); App. 40. But then, the court ordered a new trial on the solicitation-of-murder charge—not based on any review of J.R.'s records, but because of its inability to review Sellers's records:

Over a significant period of time both the State and the defense attempted to obtain the pertinent records related to State's witness Aaron Sellers. Their efforts were unsuccessful. Although the records clearly exist, the federal entities possessing them are, apparently, beyond the state court's subpoena power. According to the State, Mr. Sellers is unwilling to sign a release for the records. . . .

 $\lceil \dots \rceil$

As the Court reads the appellate ruling, Retterath is <u>entitled</u> to a review of Sellers' records by the Court. The Court respects Sellers' right to maintain his privacy. However, Retterath's rights must also be respected. The Court is unable to perform the required process on remand as directed by the Court of Appeals. Therefore, it is the Court's opinion that any doubt must be resolved in Retterath's favor and granting a new trial is the appropriate relief.

Order (12/2/19) at 2; App. 43. The State appeals from that order. See Notice of Appeal (12/13/19); App. 46; Iowa Code § 814.5(1)(c).

Statement of Facts

The Iowa Court of Appeals summarized the evidence that pertained to the solicitation charge, starting from the point when Retterath was arrested and charged with sexual abuse:

Retterath admittedly was livid over C.L.'s accusations. Retterath testified: "I'm sure I've cussed him plenty. But killing him wasn't even a thought to me." The State's witnesses told a different story. Two acquaintances who met Retterath at their AA meetings testified Retterath incessantly "vented" about wanting C.L. dead. Sellers, who was thirty-five years old at the time of the trial and had spent nearly ten years in federal prison, testified Retterath repeatedly asked him to "kill that little mother fucker." Sellers did not know whether to take Retterath seriously. But Sellers initially entertained the idea out of "some loyalty" to Retterath whom Sellers believed to be falsely accused. When Sellers made it clear he would not kill C.L., Retterath asked if Sellers knew anybody who would. . . .

Retterath also implored J.R. to kill C.L. J.R., who was twenty years old at the time of the trial, told Retterath about a *Breaking Bad* episode where ricin was extracted from castor beans and used as a poison. After that discussion, Retterath suggested J.R. should leave a ricinlaced batch of drugs on C.L.'s property where he would "stumble across it" and "hopefully would shoot it up." J.R. testified he and Retterath went to Mason City to purchase methamphetamine but Retterath decided heroin would be better because its brownish color would help disguise the ricin. Retterath wanted J.R. to plant the drugs because Retterath was the subject of a no-contact order after the filing of the sexual abuse charges. Sellers likewise recalled the storyline: "I guess you can extract some poison from these beans and it will kill you. And it was untraceable. ... And [Retterath] was talking about where he could find them ... if you started looking around online."

In April 2015 Retterath signed onto eBay to purchase castor beans, along with other seeds and supplies. Retterath insisted he only wanted the poisonous beans to kill "varmints." Retterath recalled J.R. looking over his shoulder as he ordered the seeds, which prompted J.R. to recall the television episode involving ricin. Retterath also performed searches on Google related to ricin and castor beans on April 15, 2015. . . .

In June 2015 Sellers and J.R. contacted Deputy Huftalin to report Retterath's plot to kill C.L. After they came forward, the deputy obtained another search warrant for Retterath's house. In that search, investigators found a forty-plus-page printout in Retterath's file cabinet that outlined how to extract ricin from castor beans. The printout was slipped into a folder labelled Roth IRA and was entitled: "Combined Castor Marker and Isotope Profile for Ricin Forsensics: Final Report." It included five examples of ricin-purification recipes. The searchers also found a jar of castor beans in Retterath's refrigerator, as well as a baggie holding about ten beans in the pocket of a pair of Retterath's blue jeans.

In another pocket of the same jeans, the searchers found a handwritten list of the following items:

- 6 Big Rolls Wide Duct Tape
- 50 or 60 Large Heavy Duty Heft Bags (No draw strings if possible)
- Saws All w/3 New blades, 6 inches long at least
- power cord
- 2 5-gallon containers gasoline
- Large Sections of Vcqueen and/or Tarps 15 X 15 or larger[]
- your vacumm sealer (foodsaver) with the bags that aren't pre-cut
- \$220 cash

Sellers testified he jotted down the list as Retterath dictated it over the phone and then gave the note to him when Retterath arrived at the house. Sellers said he added the item "\$220 cash" at the bottom because Retterath owed him that amount. Sellers recalled writing the note close in time to Retterath's arrest for attempted murder.

Retterath, 2017 WL 6516729, at *2-3. Additional facts about proof on the solicitation charge will be discussed when relevant.

ARGUMENT

I. Retrial was not a foregone conclusion. The court was required to review J.R.'s privileged records, determine whether they contained exculpatory information, and then determine if lack of access to that material (plus inability to access Sellers's records) was prejudicial enough to undermine the verdict and require retrial.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved when the district court rejected the State's request to consider other options, ruled that granting a new trial was the only option, and ordered a new trial. *See* Order (12/2/19) at 2–3; App. 43–44; Resistance to Motion to Dismiss (8/27/19) at 5; App. 24 (urging the district court to "perform the balancing test on the records of J.R. that have been produced as required by Iowa Code Section [622.10(4)(a)(2)(c)] and in accordance with the remand order of the Iowa Court of Appeals"); *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012) (holding error is preserved whenever a ruling "indicates that the court *considered* the issue and necessarily ruled on it").

Standard of Review

Generally, a ruling that grants a new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Jack v. Booth*, 858 N.W.2d 711, 718 (Iowa 2015). But here, the trial court did not exercise discretion; it believed did not *have* the discretion to consider any other options. *See* Order (12/2/19)

at 2; App. 43. Failure to exercise discretion is an abuse of discretion. See Lawson v. Kurtzhals, 792 N.W.2d 251, 257 (Iowa 2010) (quoting State v. Hager, 630 N.W.2d 828, 836 (Iowa 2001)) ("A court abuses its discretion when it fails to exercise any discretion."). The issue of whether the court had such discretion is a legal question, and review is for errors at law. See Pavone v. Kirk, 901 N.W.2d 477, 496 (Iowa 2011) (quoting Channon v. United Parcel Serv., Inc., 629 N.W.2d 72, 76 (Iowa 1999)); accord State v. Millsap, 704 N.W.2d 426, 434–35 (Iowa 2005); State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997).

Merits

There are multiple layers to this analysis. The first problem is that the district court interpreted the remand order to *require* it to order a new trial if it was unable to review Sellers's privileged records and determine whether they contained exculpatory material. But the remand order did not require that. The second problem is the court's conclusion that "any doubt must be resolved in Retterath's favor." *See* Order (12/2/19) at 2; App. 43. That cannot substitute for an exercise of discretion after weighing evidence and assessing the likelihood of a different result. And the biggest problem is that Sellers's records are flatly unobtainable, so their contents are automatically immaterial.

A. Upon remand for a post-trial review of privileged records under section 622.10(4)(a)(2), the court needed to identify any qualifying information and assess its materiality. Total inability to gain access to records would only entitle Retterath to relief if it was likely to have affected the verdict at trial.

The remand order, like other remand orders that direct courts to conduct in camera reviews of privileged mental health records, envisioned a two-step process. First, the district court needed to acquire and review the records, to identify any exculpatory material. Second, the court needed to "perform the balancing test outlined in paragraphs (2)(c) and (d) to assess whether Retterath is entitled to a new trial on the conviction for solicitation to commit murder." See Retterath, 2017 WL 6516729, at *11. Such a balancing test would require a qualitative assessment of the usefulness of that privileged material in light of the strength of the State's evidence, to "balance the need to disclose such information against the privacy interest of the privilege holder." See Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(c). Moreover, errors in discovery rulings may require retrial if they are material and somehow prejudicial—or they may be wholly harmless. So even upon finding some additional information that should have been disclosed, the court would need to gauge the materiality of that new information before vacating a conviction and ordering a new trial. See Struve v.

Struve, 930 N.W.2d 368, 378 (Iowa 2019) (quoting Jones v. Univ. of Iowa, 836 N.W.2d 127, 140 (Iowa 2013)) (observing that Iowa courts "do not presume the existence of prejudice based on an erroneous discovery ruling"); Team Cent., Inc. v. Teamco, Inc., 271 N.W.2d 914, 922 (Iowa 1978) (holding that, even if discovery ruling was erroneous, error was "not of sufficient importance to justify a reversal"). If review of those records uncovered a just one single page of information that was exculpatory (like the review of C.L.'s records, before trial), then it would raise the question: would access to that scrap of evidence have created any reasonable probability of a different result at trial? If not, there would be no basis for a new trial, and the verdict would stand.

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