**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA
NO. 19-2075**

**STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellant**

vs.

**MARK BERNARD RETTERATH,
Defendant-Appellee.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR MITCHELL COUNTY,
HONORABLE JAMES DREW**

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

Alfredo Parrish
Gina Messamer
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles
Gribble Gentry Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312
Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com
gmessamer@parrishlaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

This case is governed by Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a). That statute contains a threshold requirement that a defendant seeking access to privileged records must demonstrate “in good faith a reasonable probability that the information sought is likely to contain exculpatory information that is not available from any other source and for which there is a compelling need for the defendant to present a defense in the case.” Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(a).

The Iowa Court of Appeals determined that Mr. Retterath met this threshold: “The defense made a plausible showing (1) exculpatory evidence could be unearthed in their mental health records and (2) the critical information was not available from another source.” *Retterath*, 912 N.W.2d 500 at *11. The Court of Appeals thus remanded “to allow the district court to conduct that review under section 622.10(4)(a)(2) to determine whether their records contain exculpatory information.” The review ordered by the Court of Appeals is called for by Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b).

But the case hit a roadblock: because the district court was unable to obtain Sellers’ records, the in camera review never occurred. This appeal thus presents two discrete questions. First,

what does Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) require? Second, what is the remedy when the requirements of Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) are not satisfied?

The plain language of Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) provides the answer to the first question: that statute *mandates* an in camera review. The inability to conduct that review constitutes a violation of that statute. This violation of the statute invalidates subsequent actions. In other words, Mr. Retterath's trial and conviction on Count III is invalid. The remedy thus is dismissal, answering the second question. In the alternative, Sellers' testimony must be excluded and a new trial is necessary.

I. Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) mandates in camera review of Sellers' records.

The language of § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) must be the starting point for the analysis of this case. It states:

Upon a showing of a reasonable probability that the privileged records sought may likely contain exculpatory information that is not available from any other source, the court **shall** conduct an in camera review of such records

(Emphasis added).

The legislature's directive that the district court "shall" conduct an in camera review meant that the district court was *required* to review Sellers' records in camera on remand. The Iowa legislature has made clear that "[t]he word 'shall' imposes a duty. Iowa Code § 4.1(30(a). Accordingly, in criminal cases, the Iowa Supreme Court has "interpreted the term 'shall' in a statute to create a mandatory duty, not discretion." *In re Det. of Fowler*, 784 N.W.2d 184, 187 (Iowa 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also State v. Moyer*, 382 N.W.2d 133, 134 (Iowa 1986) "[W]hen used in a statute directing that a public body do certain acts, it is manifest that the word is to be construed as mandatory and not permissive." *State v. Klawonn*, 609 N.W.2d 515, 522 (Iowa 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted); *Moyer*, 382 N.W.2d at 134 (holding statute's use of "shall" "clearly obligated the district court"). Stated otherwise, when the legislature tells public officials they "shall" do something, that directive "is mandatory and excludes the idea of discretion." *Klawonn*, 609 N.W.2d at 522 (internal quotation marks omitted).

When a statute imposes a duty and the duty is not discharged, the next step of the analysis is to determine whether the prescribed duty was "so essential to the main objective of the amended statute

as to be considered mandatory in nature.” *Moyer*, 382 N.W.2d at 135. “[A] statutory duty, though ordinarily considered mandatory, may be deemed directory if its performance merely assures order or promptness and is not essential to accomplishing the principal purpose of the statute.” *Id.*

The in camera review mandated by § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) is crucial to the statute’s purpose. The main objective of § 622.10(4)(a) is to protect “the confidentiality of counseling records while also protecting the due process rights of defendants.” *State v. Leedom*, 938 N.W.2d 177, 186 (Iowa 2020) (internal quotation marks omitted). In camera review protects the due process rights of defendants—one half of the statute’s purpose. The in camera review is not merely to assure order or promptness. It is necessary in order to guarantee that defendants are provided with exculpatory evidence. At bottom, then, the legislature requires in camera review as a mechanism to prevent against wrongful conviction. Without the in camera review, a defendant may be deprived of exculpatory evidence, which in turn increases the risk of wrongful conviction.

Because in camera review is crucial to the statute’s purpose, that review is mandatory. “If [the statute] is to have any meaning

compliance must be mandatory.” *State v. Lockett*, 387 N.W.2d 298, 301 (Iowa 1986); *see also Fowler*, 784 N.W.2d at 190 (finding time limitation mandatory and recognizing “[a]ny remedy other than dismissal would render a time limitation for trial meaningless”).

II. The violation of Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) invalidated subsequent proceedings, which requires dismissal.

Though the district court does not bear the blame for failing to comply with Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b), at the end of the day the statute was violated because the in camera review was not performed (and would not be performed in the future). Mr. Retterath was in limbo for months, waiting to see if the records would be produced. The parties and the district court ultimately agreed that the records could not be obtained. It is undisputed that the district court was unable to comply with Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) due to the inability to obtain the records. As the district court stated in its ruling, “The Court is unable to perform the required process[.]” (App. p. 42). Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) thus was violated.

When a statute sets forth a mandatory duty, violation of the statute invalidates subsequent actions. *Fowler*, 784 N.W.2d at 187; *Moyer*, 382 N.W.2d at 135. This rule applies regardless of whether it

results in a benefit to a defendant. Indeed, the Iowa Supreme Court has repeatedly adhered to this rule in cases where the defendant did in fact benefit: *Luckett* vacated a five-year mandatory minimum sentence because the State violated a rule of criminal procedure requiring indictments to specify if the offense carried a minimum sentence because of the use of a firearm. 387 N.W.2d at 301. *Moyer* invalidated subsequent sentencing proceedings when the defendant did not receive the mandated substance abuse evaluation. 382 N.W.2d at 136. *Fowler* dismissed a civil commitment proceeding and released the defendant from custody when trial was not held within the required time. 784 N.W.2d at 190.

The violation of § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) invalidates any further proceedings in the case. The procedural posture of this case is atypical in that the in camera review was to occur on remand, after Mr. Retterath had been convicted. The in camera review ordinarily is conducted pretrial. When a district court wrongfully denies an in camera review and the error is corrected on appeal, the case is conditionally remanded for a review. Procedurally, this review is treated as if it occurred before trial. Thus, if the in camera review reveals exculpatory material, the district court then conducts the

balancing required by § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(c) and (d) and determines if the defendant is entitled to a new trial. *See, e.g., Leedom*, 938 N.W.2d at 189.

The violation of § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) that occurred in this case therefore must be treated as if it occurred pre-trial. If this violation had occurred pretrial, the violation would invalidate all further proceedings. In other words, any trial would be invalid. This makes sense, when the purpose is to protect a defendant's due process rights and against wrongful conviction.

It follows that Mr. Retterath's trial and conviction are invalid. Consequently, dismissal was the correct remedy. This is akin to how the time limitation violation in *Fowler*, which occurred pretrial, resulted in the dismissal of the civil commitment proceeding. *Fowler*, 784 N.W.2d at 192.

III. Alternatively, a new trial is the appropriate remedy because Sellers' testimony must be excluded.

Mr. Retterath maintains that outright dismissal is the remedy for a violation of Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b). If the Court disagrees, suppression of Sellers' testimony would be the appropriate alternative remedy. (*See* 9/3/19 Trans. at 13:4–14 (defense argument

for exclusion of Sellers' testimony)). Under this alternative, a new trial was the correct result in this case because Sellers' testimony must be excluded and, without his testimony, there is a reasonable probability Mr. Retterath would not have been convicted of Count III.

Other jurisdictions have held that exclusion of a witness's testimony is the appropriate remedy when a defendant is denied the right to review privileged records. As explained by the Supreme Court of Connecticut: "The right of cross-examination is not a privilege but is an absolute right and if one is deprived of a complete cross-examination he has a right to have the direct testimony stricken." *State v. Esposito*, 471 A.2d 949, 956 (Conn. 1984). Accordingly, Connecticut courts will strike a witness's testimony if a defendant has made the threshold showing necessary to trigger in camera review and the records have not been produced for that in camera review. *Id.* The Supreme Court of Nebraska likewise has concluded that a witness may not testify if the defendant was wrongfully denied the right to review the witness's mental-health records. *State v. Trammell*, 435 N.W.2d 197, 201 (Neb. 1989).

Iowa courts have consistently excluded evidence due to statutory violations. Most recently, *State v. Werner*, 919 N.W.2d 375,

380 (Iowa 2018), the Iowa Supreme Court suppressed evidence discovered during a traffic stop when the officer did not possess the statutory authority to stop the drive. In *State v. Hellstern*, the Iowa Supreme Court found suppression necessary when the defendant invoked his right to a confidential consultation with his attorney and the law enforcement officer failed to explain the scope of that right, instead denying it. 856 N.W.2d 355, 364 (Iowa 2014). Similarly, in *State v. Lukins*, the Iowa Supreme Court suppressed the results of a Breathalyzer test when law enforcement denied the defendant his statutory right to an independent chemical test. 846 N.W.2d 902, 911 (Iowa 2014). The suppression of evidence due to a statutory violation is not a new rule. See, e.g., *State v. Kjos*, 524 N.W.2d 195, 196 (Iowa 1995) (holding a police officer's false statement about a defendant's choice to take a breathalyzer resulted in exclusion of evidence); *State v. McAteer*, 290 N.W.2d 924, 925 (Iowa 1980) (affirming a district court's suppression of evidence when a detainee was denied her right to call a family member); *State v. Vietor*, 261 N.W.2d 828, 832 (Iowa 1978) (holding when a detainee's request to call a lawyer is denied "evidence of his refusal to take a chemical test shall be inadmissible at a later criminal trial"). Support for exclusion can also be found in

the district court's authority to exclude evidence when there is a discovery violation. See Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.14(6)(c).

The purpose of reviewing Sellers' records was to uncover any impeachment evidence for cross-examination. See *Retterath*, 912 N.W.2d 500 at *11. "Cross-examination is a right essential to a fair trial." *Gibb*, 286 N.W.2d at 186. Given that Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) is intended to protect Mr. Retterath's right to cross-examination and his right to a fair trial, exclusion of Sellers' testimony is necessary.

Without Sellers' testimony, it is highly likely Mr. Retterath would not have been convicted of Count III. Sellers' was a key prosecution witness on Count III since it was him that Mr. Retterath was alleged to have solicited. If Sellers' testimony is stricken, there is no evidence in the record to establish that Mr. Retterath "command[ed], entreat[ed], or otherwise attempt[ed] to persuade" Sellers to commit murder—a necessary element of the crime of solicitation. Iowa Code § 705.1(1). A new trial is necessary because the exclusion of Sellers' testimony undermines confidence in the verdict. Cf. *State v. Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006) (*Strickland* standard asks whether reasonable probability exists that

result of proceeding would have been different); *Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 523 (Iowa 2003) (*Brady* standard asks whether undisclosed evidence undermines confidence in verdict). The district court recognized this when it asked the State, “at a minimum doesn’t that put me in a position of precluding the State from using him as a witness and then granting a new trial?” (9/3/19 Trans. at 9). The district court’s analysis was correct.

IV. Mr. Retterath is not required to show the unavailability of the records prejudiced him.

The State fails to confront the fact that this case presents a statutory violation. The State’s brief never addresses the plain language of § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) and the law invalidating proceedings when a mandatory statute is violated. Instead, the State hangs its hat on prejudice. The State’s prejudice argument fails because it has already been rejected by the Iowa Supreme Court.

Moyer is the first example of this. 382 N.W.2d at 135. In *Moyer*, the district court did not order a substance abuse evaluation prior to sentencing, thus violating Iowa Code § 321.281(2)(c) (1983). The *Moyer* Court found that the purpose of the statute was to increase evaluation and treatment of persons with substance abuse problems

and that a mandatory presentence substance abuse evaluation was key to that purpose. *Id.* at 135.

Nevertheless, the State objected to vacating the defendant's sentencing, arguing the defendant was not prejudiced. *Id.* at 136. The State pointed out that evaluation and treatment are provided for prison inmates. *Id.* The *Moyer* Court disagreed that this was enough to excuse the district court's duty to fulfill the duty imposed by § 321.281(2)(c):

[T]his record does not show what evaluation or treatment, if any, must be provided prison inmates, in comparison with the presentence evaluation and treatment contemplated by the amendment to section 321.281(2)(c). Treatment in the penitentiary after incarceration is not what the legislature had in mind when it mandated a presentence substance abuse evaluation and authorized the sentencing court to order treatment recommended in the report.

Moyer, 382 N.W.2d at 136. Because the statute set forth a mandatory duty and the district court did not discharge that duty, the *Moyer* Court vacated the defendant's sentence and remanded for resentencing. *Id.*

The Iowa Supreme Court again rejected a prejudice requirement in *Luckett*. 387 N.W.2d at 301. In *Luckett*, the State violated a rule of criminal procedure requiring indictments to specify if the offense

carried a minimum sentence because of the use of a firearm. The State argued that the defendant “was obviously aware that use of a firearm was a contention of the prosecution.” In other words, the defendant was not prejudiced. The *Lockett* Court quickly dispatched this argument: “this knowledge does not excuse the State’s wholesale and continued failure to comply with [the rule.]” *Id.*

The State’s attempt to require Mr. Retterath to show prejudice consequently fails here. It is presumed that the Iowa legislature is aware of the caselaw interpreting mandatory statutes and invalidating subsequent proceedings when mandatory statutes are violated. *See Roberts Dairy v. Billick*, 861 N.W.2d 814, 821 (Iowa 2015) (“We have often indicated we presume the legislature was aware of our decisions when it crafted new statutes.”). According to that caselaw, prejudice is not a requirement when a mandatory statute is violated.

These same cases require the rejection of the State’s assertion that dismissal or a new trial is inappropriate unless Mr. Retterath can prove his due process rights were violated (a variation of the State’s prejudice argument). (See State’s Br. at 22–24). It is

immaterial if Mr. Retterath's due process rights were violated.² *Fowler, Moyer, and Luckett* did not ask if the defendant's due process rights were violated, they asked if the defendant's statutory rights were violated. The determinative issue is whether Mr. Retterath's statutory rights were violated—and they were.

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